IN THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEAL

No. 21-CV-597



Clerk of the Court Received 02/08/2022 02:02 PM

SIM DEVELOPMENT, LLC,

Appellant,

v.

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA, et al.,

Appellees.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT SIM DEVELOPMENT, LLC

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA (CIVIL DIVISION) 2019 CA 004477 B

Kenneth C. Crickman #463225 Robert C. Cooper #414168 Cooper & Crickman, PLLC 6856 Eastern Avenue, NW #350 Washington, DC 20012 (202) 265-4520 kcrickman@cocrlaw.com *Counsel for Appellant Sim Development, LLC*

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Did the trial court err in finding that expert witness testimony was required to establish the duty of care for the negligence and breach of fiduciary duty claims against the settlement/escrow agent in this case where its duties and actions were well-defined and well-documented in writing, such that a layperson could easily see from the evidence what was supposed to have been done, and what was done?

2. Were the admissions of The District and surrounding evidence sufficient to establish its negligence under the facts of this case, or at least the existence of genuinely disputed material facts which should be determined by a jury?

3. Did the trial court err in finding that the tax sale purchaser's misrepresentations that it was entitled to a judgment foreclosing the right of redemption and a tax deed could not satisfy the elements of fraud or negligent misrepresentation under the facts of this case?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal of the trial court's orders (1) granting the Motion for Summary Judgment of Defendant 2011 Counties, LLC ("2011 Counties"); (2) granting the Renewed Motion for Summary Judgment of MBO Settlements, Inc.

-4-

("MBO"); and granting the Supplemental Motion for Summary Judgment of The District of Columbia ("The District").

On July 8, 2019, Plaintiff Sim Development, LLC ("Sim") filed a Complaint in this case seeking damages in connection with a tax sale foreclosure and tax deed issued for its real property located at 1916 15th Street, SE, Washington, D.C. (Lot 845 in Square 5766) (the "Property") (APX 12-20). Sim claimed that it properly redeemed the Property from the tax sale by paying all legal expenses of 2011 Counties (the tax sale purchaser) and all real property taxes owed to The District. Despite 2011 Counties' knowledge of these undisputed facts, 2011 Counties nevertheless continued its foreclosure action and ultimately obtained a tax deed to the Property. The District has admitted that the tax deed was issued in error. The tax deed was later overturned by the trial court, and a declaration was issued to place title to the Property back in Sim's name, but not until Sim suffered substantial damages resulting from the erroneous tax deed.

Sim further claimed that MBO was responsible for a portion of its damages. MBO conducted a refinance closing at which the legal expenses for the tax sale purchaser were collected and paid to 2011 Counties, as well as real estate taxes to The District. The purpose of the closing was to provide Sim with a construction loan for its development of the Property into a multi-use building. However, MBO never recorded the lender's security interest in the Property, and it never issued a title insurance policy to the lender for which Sim paid a premium at the closing. Immediately upon learning from Sim's counsel – over two years after the closing -that its loan was unsecured and uninsured, Capital Bank called the loan as being immediately due in full, which further thwarted Sim's effort to develop the Property and resulted in additional damages.

On July 30, 2020, MBO filed a Motion for Summary Judgment (APX 58-169) in this lawsuit, which Sim opposed on August 18, 2020 (APX 170-225). MBO's motion was granted in part and denied in part on September 1, 2020 (APX 226-235). On September 11, 2020, 2011 Counties filed a Motion for Summary Judgment (APX 236-327), which Sim opposed on September 25, 2020 (APX 481-507). The motion was granted in favor of 2011 Counties on November 2, 2020 (APX 525-537). On September 11, 2020, The District filed a Motion for Summary Judgment (APX 399-480), which Sim opposed on September 25, 2020. The District's motion which was denied on October 23, 2020 (APX 511-524). On September 11, 2020, Sim filed a Motion for Summary Judgment against The District (APX 328-389), to which The District did not file an opposition. Sim's motion was denied on October 23, 2020 (APX 511-524).

Following depositions of the remaining parties (Sim, MBO and The District) and an unsuccessful attempt at mediation, those parties again moved for summary judgment. On June 11, 2021, MBO filed a Renewed Motion for Summary Judgment (APX 538-689), which Sim opposed on June 25, 2021 (APX 945-985). On July 2, 2021, MBO filed a Reply (APX 1005-1011). MBO's motion was granted on July 29, 2021 (APX 1022-1033). On June 11, 2021, Sim filed a Supplemental Motion for Summary Judgment against The District (APX 772-882), which The District opposed on June 25, 2021 (APX 986-998). On June 11, 2021, The District filed a Supplemental Motion for Summary Judgment against Sim (APX 883-944), which Sim opposed on June 25, 2021. On July 2, 2021, The District filed a Reply (APX 999-1004). On July 20, 2021, The District's motion was granted and Sim's motion was denied (APX 1022-1033).

On August 27, 2021, Sim filed a Notice of Appeal (APX 1034-1036) as to the Orders and Judgments in favor of the three (3) defendants, which were issued on November 2, 2020, July 20, 2021 and July 29, 2021.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On July 21, 2015, The District sold the Property at a tax sale due to an unpaid charge from the District of Columbia Water and Sewer Authority ("WASA") (APX 321). The successful bidder at the tax sale was 2011 Counties. On March 14, 2016, 2011 Counties filed a complaint to foreclose the right of redemption (2016 CA 001915 L(RP) ("the Foreclosure Action") (APX 308-316).

On April 15, 2016, Plaintiff made a payment in the amount of \$4,266.17, bringing the real property taxes current. The District has since acknowledged that the April, 2016 payment redeemed the Property with respect to outstanding taxes (APX 371 and 352).

On March 4, 2016, 2011 Counties sought clarification from The District as to whether the taxes had been paid. The District did not respond until January 24, 2017, stating that it did not consider the Property redeemed (APX 360-365). Relying on the District's advice that taxes were still owing, 2011 Counties thereafter continued the Foreclosure Action (APX 372).

Sim had been planning to improve the Property with the construction of a mixed-use building and was approved for construction financing from Capital Bank (APX 345). On February 24, 2017, a closing for Sim's loan from Capital Bank was conducted by MBO Settlements (APX 367-368).

In preparation for the closing, MBO Settlements learned of the tax sale and contacted the attorneys for 2011 Counties to receive a payoff statement for 2011 Counties' post-complaint legal expenses (APX 491). At the closing, MBO Settlements collected \$2,191.15 from Sim's funds to pay 2011 Counties' legal expenses, which payment was identified on the Settlement Statement as "Tax Sale Redemption" (APX 368).

Also at the closing, MBO Settlements collected from Sim: (a) \$3,000.00 to the D.C. Treasurer for estimated real property taxes; (b) \$1,000.00 to "MBO Fees" for "Title Clearing"; (c) \$14,000.00 to "DC WASA" for "DWSS LIEN#63848"; (d) \$156.50 for recording the lender's Deed of Trust; and (e) \$4,451.25 for issuing a lender's title insurance policy to Capital Bank (APX 367-368).

MBO Settlements later paid \$11,178.86 to WASA without refunding Plaintiff the balance of the \$14,000.00 it had collected. MBO Settlements made no payment to the District for Plaintiff's real property taxes (APX 966, p. 29, line 22 – p. 30, line 4). Also, MBO Settlements never recorded the Deed of Trust (APX 965, p. 27, lines 4-10) and never issued a title insurance policy to Capital Bank (APX 978).

MBO Settlements completed payment to 2011 Counties for the tax sale redemption on June 19, 2017 (APX 372), which was nearly four months after the loan closing. At that point, Sim had therefore paid both the outstanding real estate taxes and 2011 Counties' legal expenses for the Foreclosure Action, thus completing the redemption process. The District later acknowledged that Sim's redemption was complete as of June, 2017 (APX 374-375).

Despite having received payment for its legal expenses in June, 2017, and despite being made aware that Sim had paid its taxes, 2011 Counties continued the Foreclosure Action until it eventually obtained a judgment foreclosing Sim's right of redemption on November 20, 2018 APX 499). Neither The District nor 2011 Counties ever informed the Court that both the taxes and the legal expenses had been paid approximately seventeen (17) months before the judgment was entered (APX 825, lines 15-20).

After obtaining its judgment foreclosing right of redemption, 2011 Counties received a tax deed from The District, which it recorded on February 13, 2019 (APX 827). Sim was unaware of the judgment in favor of 2011 Counties because it had never been directly served in the Foreclosure Action and because it had redeemed the Property much earlier. 2011 Counties had obtained service of process on Sim through the District of Columbia Superintendent of Corporations (APX 873). Sim's managing member first learned of the recorded tax deed on March 14, 2019, when he met with a District official regarding his appeal of the tax classification for the Property and the official informed him that Sim was no longer the owner (APX 503-507).

Sim thereafter filed a Motion to Reopen, Vacate Judgment and Void Tax Deed, which eventually resulted in the Court issuing a declaration to restore Sim's title to the Property, which was recorded on June 26, 2019 (APX 378-379).

Meanwhile, when Capital Bank learned from Sim's counsel on April 5, 2019, over 2 years after the loan closing, that MBO had left its security interest unrecorded and uninsured it immediately deemed the loan to be in default and

demanded full repayment of the initial \$40,000 advanced at the loan closing, plus interest and additional fees (APX 203 and 975).

At a deposition of The District's representative conducted on April 19, 2021, The District admitted that the Tax Deed was issued in error (APX 827, lines 5-14), and that 2011 Counties continued its Foreclosure Action even after being paid its legal expenses due to the response it received from The District regarding the status of taxes owed on the Property (APX 819, line 21 - 820, line 18).

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT EXPERT TESTIMONY WAS REQUIRED TO ESTABLISH NEGLIGENCE AND A BREACH OF FIDUCIARY DUTY BY MBO, WHCH WAS THE ESCROW AGENT FOR SIM'S CONSTRUCTION LOAN CLOSING.

The trial court based its decision to grant summary judgment in favor of MBO solely on the fact that Sim did not identify an expert witness to establish the standard of care required of MBO with respect to Sim's claim that MBO was negligent and/or breached its fiduciary duty by failing to record the construction loan lender's Deed of Trust and failing to issue a title insurance policy to the lender, among other failures. The trial court found that "the standard of care of a settlement/escrow agent does not fall within the realm of common knowledge for the average juror" (APX 1029). As its authority on the issue, the trial court cited only to <u>Carleton v. Winter</u>, 902 A.2d 174 (D.C. 2006), which was a case involving the standard of care applicable to a realtor and which was decided under facts dissimilar to, and distinguishable from, the facts of this case.

It is well settled that "[a] plaintiff must put on expert testimony to establish what the standard of care is if the subject in question is so distinctly related to some science, profession or occupation as to be beyond the ken of the average layperson." <u>District of Columbia v. Arnold & Porter</u>, 756 A.2d 427, 433 (D.C.2000) (citations omitted). Conversely, no expert testimony is needed if the subject matter is "within the realm of common knowledge and everyday experience." <u>Id. See also Otis Elevator Co. v. Tuerr</u>, 616 A.2d 1254 (D.C. 1992) ("A lay person can infer from the evidence presented in this case that the company's failure to correct fully a malfunction in the elevator which came to its attention on August 4th and recurred on August 20th was negligence.").

In this case, a lay person could certainly examine MBO's written settlement statement and see that MBO charged Sim: (a) \$156.50 for recording the lender's Deed of Trust (line 1201); (b) \$4,451.25 for issuing a lender's title insurance policy (lines 1108-1109); (c) \$1,000.00 for "Title Clearing" (line 1103); (d) \$3,000 for payment of real estate taxes to The District (line 905); and \$2,191.15 for "Tax Sale Redemption" (i.e. the tax sale purchaser's legal expenses). A layperson could then easily see from the evidence, without any special knowledge, whether those items for which Sim paid MBO to handle were completed or not.

While the duties of a realtor to vouch for careful performance by a home inspector they recommend might require some explanation from an expert with respect to the standards in the industry, as the Court found in <u>Carleton</u>, the duties of MBO in this case were simple and straightforward, and well-defined by the written settlement statement. The performance or non-performance of those duties is clearly shown by the fact that there is no Deed of Trust on record and that no title insurance policy was issued, among other things. Whether MBO performed

its duties is further evident by its own disbursement statement (APX 219-220), showing which payments MBO made on behalf of Sim and which it did not. Simply put, a layperson could see from the evidence what Sim paid MBO to do, and whether it was done.

In <u>Doe v. Medlantic Health Care Group, Inc.</u>, 814 A.2d 939 (D.C. 2003), the Court examined whether expert testimony was required regarding a hospital's protocols in protecting a patient's medical records. The protocols were established by a written policy. The Court reasoned that a lay person would not need to know all the details of the hospital's operation and could make factual findings from the specific evidence of the protocols and the acts in questions:

First, we reject the suggestion that expert testimony was necessary to establish the applicable standard of care in this case. In the negligence context, we have "refused to require expert testimony when the issue before the jury did not involve either a subject too technical for lay jurors to understand or the exercise of sophisticated professional judgment." (internal citation omitted). The jury, as instructed, could consider the protocols that the hospital had established, which had been approved by a national hospital accreditation committee, as establishing the standard of care. The jury was specifically instructed that it could take into account whether the hospital's protocol 'is or is not followed in practice' and 'whether it was successful historically in preventing unauthorized disclosure.' That instruction, which is not challenged by appellee, was proper here, where the evidence showed that Medlantic had failed to follow protocols it had established to safeguard its patients' medical records. WMATA v. Jeanty, 718 A.2d 172, 178 (D.C. 1998) (common carrier's departure from its own inspection schedule was "sufficiently extreme to support a prima facie showing that [it] had failed to exercise the `highest degree of care'" without necessitating expert testimony on the subject); Washington Hosp. Ctr. v. Martin, 454 A.2d 306, 309 (D.C. 1982) (no expert testimony required in medical malpractice case where the standard of care was "simply that which a reasonable and ordinary lay person would expect a hospital to provide to any patient under like circumstances").

Although there was no direct evidence that the hospital's protocols were deficient or that they were breached to obtain Doe's medical records, evidence that there were significant lapses in the enforcement of the hospital's protocols to safeguard medical records, and that pointed to Goldring, a hospital employee, as the source of the unauthorized disclosure, sufficed to permit the jury to conclude that the hospital <u>breached its duty as a fiduciary</u> to maintain the confidentiality of Doe's medical records. (emphasis supplied)

Doe, 814 A.2d at 952.

In this case, Sim's claims for negligence and breach of fiduciary duty against MBO depends on whether MBO followed its duties as set forth in its own settlement statement and related documents. As in <u>Doe</u>, the jury could determine whether MBO adhered to its clearly stated obligations.

Several Maryland cases are instructive on this issue. In <u>Free State Bank &</u> <u>Trust Co. v. Ellis</u>, 411 A.2d 1090 (Md.App. 1980), the Court addressed the need for expert testimony in the context of a bank's standard of care. this Court held that expert testimony was not required to establish the bank's standard of care because "the average juror would know without expert testimony that banks simply do not ordinarily do what [Free State Bank] did in this case."

Certainly, no expert testimony was needed to show that banks do not ordinarily release the collateral of a customer and take in substitution thereof a paper writing which is not collateral, and which does no more than allow the bank to collect monies due on the collateral and credit it to the account of another. No expert testimony is needed to show the jurors that banks do not ordinarily release a deed of trust that secures a \$200,000 promissory note payable to the bank's customer and which has been assigned to the bank as collateral for the customer's loan, and accept as substitute collateral a note secured by a deed of trust, payable to a party other than the bank's customer, and which is not even assigned to the bank, except, for all practical purposes, for collection. No expert testimony is needed to demonstrate to the jury that by doing what it did in the instant case, the Bank stripped its customer of his security for a \$200,000 loan to another party. Id. at A.2d 1090.

The Court concluded by noting that, "even if expert testimony is ordinarily needed to prove the standard of reasonable care used by banks in the community in its dealings with its customers, no expert testimony was required to demonstrate Free State's negligence under the facts at hand." Id. at A.2d 1090. Under the facts at hand in this case, no expert testimony was required to demonstrate to the jury that settlement/escrow agents do not ordinarily charge their customers for common services such as recording documents, issuing title insurance policies and disbursing funds to the proper recipients, but then fail to do so.

In <u>Saxon Mortgage Services, Inc. v. Harrison</u>, 973 A.2d 841 (Md.App. 2009) the Court held that expert testimony was not necessary under the facts of that case. The case concerned the proper endorsement of a check, and the instructions on the back of the check, as well as the bank's own training guidelines, provided that a payee "should endorse its name exactly as it appears on the front of

the check." The Court noted that, "while a bank's own procedures cannot in and of themselves be equated with reasonable commercial standards, a bank's failure to follow its own normal procedures is indicative of a failure to act in accordance with reasonable commercial standards." Accordingly, whether the bank violated a standard of care because it failed to follow its own procedures, as well as the check's express instructions, was not "so particularly related to some science or profession that is beyond the ken of the average lay[person,]" and thus expert testimony was not required. (internal citations omitted). *See also* <u>Schultz v. Bank of America</u>, 990 A.2d 1078 (Md. 2010) ("although expert testimony is generally necessary to establish the requisite standard of care owed by the professional, such testimony is not needed when 'the alleged negligence, if proven, would be so obviously shown that the trier of fact could recognize it without expert testimony." (internal citations omitted).

The trial court in this case did not address whether MBO was negligent or breached its fiduciary duty. "Because the Court finds that Plaintiff has failed to demonstrate an applicable standard of care, it is unnecessary to address whether MBO deviated from that standard or if there was a causal relationship between the deviation and plaintiff's injury." (APX 1029). However, if the standard of care can be determined without expert testimony, as argued above, then the factual determinations regarding MBO's actions and inaction should be determined by a jury. "[W]hen there is some evidence from which jurors could find the requisite elements of negligence, or when the case turns on disputed facts and the credibility of witnesses, the case must be submitted to the jury for determination. A case may not be taken away from the jury on motion of the defendant if an impartial juror, considering all the evidence, could reasonably find in favor of the plaintiff." <u>Bushong v. Park</u>, 837 A.2d 49, 53 (D.C. 2003) (internal citations omitted).

Also, "[i]n general... there is only a minimal duty—if any—owed to a party who is at arms' length. Once the defendant enters into a relationship with the plaintiff, however, a corresponding duty of care arises. Here, Sim and MBO had a relationship within the real estate closing. *See* <u>Wagman v. Lee</u>, 457 A.2d 401, 404 (D.C. 1983). (an escrow agent occupies a unique position in the "triangular" relationship between purchaser and seller and serves as the dual agent of both parties). In the closing at issue in this case, there was only Sim (as borrower) and Capital Bank (as lender). MBO clearly failed to perform its duties to both, as such duties are well detailed by the settlement statement, loan agreement and other closing documentation.

Had the trial court examined whether MBO was negligent and/or breached its fiduciary duty in this case, there are multiple material facts which, at a minimum, should not have supported a decision by summary judgment. The evidence shows that MBO failed to properly disburse the funds from closing with respect to payment of real estate taxes, water charges, recording fees and the title policy and instead retained those funds in its escrow account for over two (2) years. MBO ultimately caused Sim to lose any benefit from its construction loan financing, which Sim was forced to repay before any construction began.

For many of the same reasons MBO was negligent, it also breached its fiduciary duty to Sim. The elements of a breach of fiduciary duty are (1) the existence of a fiduciary relationship; (2) a breach of the duties associated with the fiduciary relationship; and (3) injuries that were proximately caused by the breach of fiduciary duties." Jones v. Dist. of Columbia, 241 F. Supp. 3d 81, 90 (D.D.C. 2017). As for the first element, it is well settled that a settlement/escrow agent owes a fiduciary duty to both parties (buyer and seller) to a real estate sale transaction. *See* <u>Aronoff v. Lenkin Co.</u>, 618 A.2d 669, 687 (D.C. 1992); <u>Wagman v. Lee, supra</u>.

Regarding the second element, "[a]s a fiduciary respecting matters within the scope of the agency, RESTATEMENT (SECOND) OF AGENCY § 13 (1958), the agent owes a duty of good faith and candor in affairs connected with the undertaking, including the duty to disclose to the principal all matters coming to the agent's notice or knowledge concerning the subject of the agency, which it is material for the principal to know for his protection or guidance." <u>Id.</u> (internal citation omitted). Additionally, "[w]hether as settlement agent or escrowee, the agent has a duty in such circumstances to alert the principal to the real state of affairs." <u>Aronoff</u>, *supra*, at 687. Here, MBO not only failed to perform its duties for which it was paid at the closing, it failed to keep both Sim and its lender informed of the circumstances, instead allowing the problems to linger for over two (2) years until Capital Bank discovered them and immediately demanded full repayment of the loan.

II. THE TRIAL COURT'S RULING THAT THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA DID NOT ERRONEOUSLY ADVISE 2011 COUNTIES AND ERRONEOUSLY ISSUE A TAX DEED IS INCORRECT UNDER THE UNDISDPUTED FACTS AND ADMISSIONS.

With respect to Sim's claims against The District, the trial court found that The District acted properly despite its own admissions that Sim had redeemed the Property, by paying all amounts required to do so pursuant to D.C. Code § 47-1361, before the judgment foreclosing the right of redemption. The District even expressly admitted that it issued the Tax Deed in error. In any event, there are unquestionably disputes over material facts that are not appropriate for a determination by summary judgment.

There is no genuine dispute in this case that The District's error in issuing a tax deed after Sim's redemption was a proximate cause of Sim's loss of title to the Property and its resulting damages. However, he trial court evidently discounted the relevance of this material fact.

The District's attorney for the Foreclosure Action, Eli D. Wood, Esquire, testified as follows:

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