#### DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS



No. 21-CV-597

SIM DEVELOPMENT, LLC

Appellant,

v.

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA, et al.

Appellees.

\_\_\_\_\_

On Appeal from the Superior Court of the District of Columbia Civil Division, Civil Action No. 2019 CA 004477 B The Honorable Shana Frost Matini

\_\_\_\_\_

#### **BRIEF OF APPELLEE 2011 COUNTIES, LLC**

\_\_\_\_\_

John J. Callahan, D.C. Bar No. 447814\* Michael E. Brand, D.C. Bar No. 202085 Brand & Callahan, PLLC 1325 G Street, NW Suite 500 Washington, D.C. 20005 Tel: (202) 789-2382

Emails: jcallahan@bmaclegal.com and

mbrand@bmaclegal.com

Counsel for Appellee 2011 Counties, LLC

<sup>\*</sup> Counsel for Argument

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

## **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

Sim's claims against 2011 Counties for fraud and/or negligent misrepresentation do not satisfy the basic requirements for causes of action for fraud or negligent misrepresentation. In particular, Sim failed to allege any facts to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> This was the first time that Sim took any action in the Tax Sale Lawsuit.

support that it had reasonably relied upon alleged misrepresentations made by 2011 Counties to the Superior Court of the District of Columbia in the Tax Sale Lawsuit. The trial court's grant of 2011 Counties' Motion for Summary Judgment should accordingly be affirmed.

#### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

An appellate court reviews the trial court's grant of summary judgment de novo, using the same standard the trial court uses to evaluate the motion. See Young v. U-Haul Co. of the District of Columbia, 11 A.3d 247, 249 (D.C. 2011). Summary judgment is proper if "the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue of material fact and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law." Id. (quoting Bruno v. Western Union Fin. Servs., *Inc.*, 973 A.2d 713, 717 (D.C. 2009)); Super. Ct. Civ. R. 56(c). The movant has the initial burden to demonstrate the absence of a genuine issue of material fact, but once the movant has done so, the burden shifts to the non-movant to show a factual dispute, by presenting admissible evidence of a *prima facie* case to support his cause of action. See id. It is appropriate to enter summary judgment "against a party who fails to make a showing sufficient to establish the existence of an element essential to that party's case, and on which that party will bear the burden of proof at trial." Celotex Corp. v. Catrett, 477 U.S. 317, 322, 106 S.Ct. 2548, 91 L.Ed.2d 265 (1986); Doe v. Safeway, Inc., 88 A3d 131, 132-33 (D.C. 2014).

#### <u>ARGUMENT</u>

In Count II of the Complaint (APX 18-19), Sim seeks damages for "fraud or negligent misrepresentation" against 2011 Counties arising out of the Tax Sale Lawsuit. The allegations relating to 2011 Counties in this Count are contained only in paragraphs 42 and 43 of the Complaint, which consist, in their entirety as follows:

- 42. When obtaining its judgment foreclosing Plaintiff's (SIM's) right of redemption, 2011 Counties defrauded and/or negligently represented to the Court that Plaintiff (Sim) had been properly served and had not redeemed the Property when 2011 Counties knew or should have known otherwise. The actions of 2011 Counties also represented a reckless disregard for Plaintiff's (SIM's) property and its rights.
- 43. It can be presumed that the Court reasonably relied upon the misrepresentations of 2011 Counties when entering judgment and authorizing the tax deed.

To succeed on a claim for fraudulent misrepresentation, a plaintiff must prove (1) that a false representation was made (2) in reference to a material fact (3) with knowledge of its falsity (4) with intent to deceive and (5) action taken in detrimental reliance upon the representation. *Sibley v. St. Albans*, 134 A.3d 789 (D.C. 2016); *Va. Acad. Clinical Psychologists v. Grp Hospitalization & Med. Servs., Inc.*, 878 A.2d 1226 (D.C. 2005). The elements of a negligent misrepresentation claim are the same as those of a fraudulent misrepresentation claim, except that a negligent misrepresentation claim does not include the intent to

deceive element required for fraud. Regan v. Spicer HB, LLC, 134 F. Supp. 3d 21 (D.D.C. 2015). However, "(b)oth negligent misrepresentation and fraudulent misrepresentation require . . . reasonable reliance." Venable, LLP v. Overseas Lease Grp., Inc., No. 14-cv-2010, 2015 WL 4555372 at 4 (D.D.C. July 28, 2015); see also, In re U.S. Office Prods. Co. Sec Litig, 251 F.Supp.2d 58, 74 (D.D.C. 2003); Sundberg v. TTR Realty, LLC, 109 A.3d 1123, 1131 (D.C. 2015) (holding that a plaintiff claiming negligent misrepresentation must show that he reasonably relied upon the false statement or omission to his detriment, quoting *Redmond v*. State Farm Ins. Co., 728 A.2d 1202, 1207 (D.C. 1999). See also Kumar v. District of Columbia Water and Sewer Authority, 25 A.3d 9, 15, 16 (2011) (holding that to prevail on a claim for negligent or fraudulent misrepresentation, a plaintiff must show that his reliance on the defendant's misrepresentation was to his detriment (citing Redmond, supra, and Dresser v. Sunderland Apartments Tenants Association, 465 A.2d 835, 839 (D.C. 1983)). Finally, in considering the requirement for "reasonable reliance," in order for any reliance to be "reasonable," there must not be an adequate opportunity to conduct an independent investigation to learn the truth of the matter. Howard v. Riggs Nat'l Bank, 432 A.2d 701, 707 (D.C. 1981); Estate of McKenney, 953 A.2d 336 (D.C. 2008). Indeed, if a party has suspicions of wrongdoing, he has an "obligation to move promptly and with reasonable diligence to inquire further into the matter" and take appropriate action.

*Drake v. McNair*, 993 A.2d 607, 617 (D.C. 2010).

Against this background, 2011 Counties stressed in its Motion for Summary Judgment - filed on September 11, 2020 - that Sim had never alleged that it had reasonably relied on what it deemed the "misrepresentations" of 2011 Counties to the Superior Court of the District of Columbia in the Tax Sale Lawsuit. (APX 252-253.) Sim only alleged (at ¶ 43 of the Complaint) that "[i]t can be **presumed** that **the Court** reasonably relied upon the misrepresentations of 2011 Counties when entering judgment and authorizing the tax deed." (emphasis added). Nowhere did Sim allege that it relied on any misrepresentation of 2011 Counties, nor did Sim allege any adverse consequences that it suffered as a result of its own "reasonable reliance." It is undisputed that Sim became aware of the Tax Sale Lawsuit at the time of its refinance closing, on February 24, 2017, more than two years before it took any action in that suit by filing on March 22, 2019 its Motion to Reopen Case, Vacate Judgment, Void Tax Sale Deed and for Injunctive Relief. (APX 239-240 ¶¶ 8-9, 12.) It is also undisputed that Sim failed to move promptly and with reasonable diligence to inquire further into the Tax Sale Lawsuit, and to take appropriate action, when it learned of the Tax Sale Lawsuit on February 24, 2017. And further, Sim made no claim that it relied at all, let alone reasonably, on alleged representations made by 2011 Counties in the Tax Sale Lawsuit, to Sim's detriment.

In its Motion for Summary Judgment, 2011 Counties carried its initial burden through establishing that there was no genuine issue of material fact and that it was entitled to judgment as a matter of law (i.e., that Sim had not satisfied the basic requirements for fraud and/or negligent misrepresentation, in particular, that Sim had not alleged any facts to support that it had reasonably relied upon alleged misrepresentations made by 2011 Counties to the Superior Court of the District of Columbia in the Tax Sale Lawsuit). The burden then shifted to Sim to show the existence of an issue of material fact, by producing admissible evidence of a *prima facie* case to support its cause of action. Sim did not even come close to doing that. In fact, in its Opposition filed on September 25, 2020, Sim did not present any evidence, admissible or inadmissible, to support that it had reasonably relied upon alleged misrepresentations made by 2011 Counties to the Superior Court of the District of Columbia in the Tax Sale Lawsuit. By not doing so, it was as if Sim had conceded that it never relied, let alone reasonably, upon alleged misrepresentations made by 2011 Counties to the Superior Court of the District of Columbia in the Tax Sale Lawsuit. On November 2, 2020, the trial court issued a ruling granting 2011 Counties' Motion for Summary Judgment (APX 525-537). With regard to Sim's negligent misrepresentation claim against 2011 Counties, the trial court noted in that ruling, inter alia, "[t]hat the undisputed material facts do not demonstrate that the elements of negligent misrepresentation have been met

[and that] "[e]ven if there was a misrepresentation of fact by 2011 Counties to the Court, Sim's argument centers around the Court's reliance of the misrepresentation, not Sim's reliance." (APX 534-535.) The trial court reached the same conclusions with regard to Sim's fraud claim against 2011 Counties. (APX 535.)

In its Appellate Brief filed with this Court on February 10, 2022, Sim raises the new argument that the fact that 2011 Counties may not have made alleged misrepresentations directly to Sim (Sim alleges in Count II of its Complaint that "2011 Counties defrauded and/or negligently represented to the Court that . . . " (emphasis added)) does not necessarily defeat Sim's causes of action against 2011 Counties for fraud and/or negligent misrepresentation. (Appellant Brief at 27-29.) In support of its new argument, Sim references six cases where courts acknowledge that there are instances where third parties may recover damages in their causes of action for misrepresentation that are based on misrepresentations that were not made directly to them. A review of those six cases reveals that all six of the rulings note that in order to prevail on a claim for misrepresentation, the plaintiff must show reliance on the defendant's misrepresentation. As such, there

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The six cases are: (1.) Nader v. Allegheny Airlines, Inc., 167 U.S. App. D.C. 350, 370, 512 F.2d 527, 547 (D.C. Cir. 1975) (the court addressed the issue of "when may a third party recover his pecuniary losses for **reliance** on a misrepresentation that was not made to him.") (emphasis added); (2.) Mills v. Cosmopolitan Insurance Agency, Inc., 424 A.2d 43, 49 (D.C. 1980) (defendant liable if plaintiff "can establish that he **relied** upon . . . [the misrepresentation] to his detriment . . .) (emphasis added) (citing Peerless Mills, Inc. v. American Telephone & Telegraph Co., 527 F.2d 445, 450 (1975); (3.) Peerless Mills, Inc. v. American Telephone &

is little about these six cases that helps Sim's cause as concerns Sim's claims against 2011 Counties for fraud and/or negligent misrepresentation.

Lastly, it should be noted that in its Motion for Summary Judgment, 2011

Counties made an alternative argument that Sim's claims for fraud and/or negligent misrepresentation against 2011 Counties were barred as a result of the doctrine of judicial privilege (also known as "the judicial proceedings privilege" or "the litigation privilege"). (APX 243-245.) In its November 2, 2020 ruling (APX 525-537) granting 2011 Counties' Motion for Summary Judgment, the trial court declined to address 2011 Counties' judicial privilege argument, reasoning that "the Court need not decide whether the judicial privilege applies as the undisputed material facts demonstrate that Sim cannot, as a matter of law, prevail on its claims for . . . . fraud [] and negligent misrepresentation against 2011 Counties." (APX 531.) 2011 Counties would urge this Court to address 2011 Counties' judicial

Telegraph Co., 527 F.2d 445, 450 (1975) (see supra); (4.) Countryside Casualty Co. v. Orr, 523 F.2d 870, 875 (8<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1975) ("The finding of the District Court that the insurance company **relied** upon the misrepresentations and 'would not have issued the policy had it known the true facts that existed at the time' is supported by substantial evidence and is not clearly erroneous." (emphasis added); (5.) Landy v. Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation, 486 F.2d 139, 170 (3<sup>rd</sup> Cir. 1973) ("The second reason justifying the entry of summary judgment against Gloria Landy, Harry Gross, and Freehold Glass is the absence of evidence that they **relied** on [misstatements.]") (emphasis added), and; (6.) Shapiro v. Sutherland, 64 Cal. App. 4<sup>th</sup> 1534, 1548 (1998) ("The maker of a fraudulent misrepresentation is subject to liability for pecuniary loss to another who acts in justifiable **reliance** upon it . . ." (quoting the Restatement Second of Torts (section 533)) (emphasis added).

privilege argument in the event this Court is inclined to reverse the November 2, 2020 ruling granting 2011 Counties' Motion for Summary Judgment on other grounds.

### **CONCLUSION**

This Court should affirm the Order issued by the trial court on November 2, 2020 granting summary judgment in favor of 2011 Counties and against Sim.